



Global alcohol action plan 2022-2030 to strengthen implementation of the Global Strategy to Reduce the Harmful Use of Alcohol

Second draft (unedited)

4th October 2021

© World Health Organization 2021

All rights reserved. The information contained in this document may be freely used and copied for educational and other non-commercial and non-promotional purposes, provided that any reproduction of the information be accompanied by an acknowledgement of WHO as the source. Any other use of the information requires the permission from WHO, and requests should be directed to World Health Organization, Department of Mental Health and Substance Use, 20 Avenue Appia, 1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland. The document can be downloaded on WHO's website: https://www.who.int/teams/mental-health-and-substance-use/alcohol-drugs-and-addictive-behaviours.

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this document do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the World Health Organization concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities.

The World Health Organization does not warrant that the information contained in this document is complete and correct and shall not be liable for any damages incurred as a result of its use.

The information in this document does not necessarily represent the stated views or policies of the World Health Organization. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader.

CONTENTS

BACKGROUND	1
Setting the scene	1
GLOBAL STRATEGY TO REDUCE THE HARMFUL USE OF ALCOHOL AND ITS IMPLEMENTATION	
The Global strategy and its mandate	
Implementation of the Global strategy since its endorsement	
Opportunities for reducing the harmful use of alcohol	
Mandate for development of an action plan (2022–2030)	
PROCESS OF DEVELOPMENT OF AN ACTION PLAN (2022–2030)	
SCOPE OF THE ACTION PLAN	
GOAL OF THE ACTION PLAN	
OPERATIONAL OBJECTIVES OF THE ACTION PLAN	. 12
OPERATIONAL PRINCIPLES	. 13
KEY AREAS FOR GLOBAL ACTION	. 14
ACTION AREA 1: IMPLEMENTATION OF HIGH-IMPACT STRATEGIES AND INTERVENTIONS	. 14
Global targets for Action area 1	. 14
Proposed actions for Member States	
Proposed actions for the WHO Secretariat	
Proposed actions for international partners, civil society organizations and academia	
Proposed measures for economic operators in alcohol production and trade	
Action area 2: Advocacy, awareness and commitment	
Global target for Action area 2	
Proposed actions for Member States	
Proposed actions for the WHO Secretariat	
Proposed actions for international partners, civil society organizations and academia	
Proposed measures for economic operators in alcohol production and trade	
Action area 3: Partnership, dialogue and coordination	
Global targets for Action area 3	
Proposed actions for Member States	
Proposed actions for the WHO Secretariat	
Proposed actions for international partners, civil society organizations and academia	
Proposed measures for economic operators in alcohol production and trade	
Action area 4: Technical support and capacity-building	
Global targets for Action area 4	
Proposed actions for Member States	
Proposed actions for the WHO Secretariat	
Proposed actions for international partners, civil society organizations and academia	
Proposed measures for economic operators in alcohol production and trade	
Action Area 5: Knowledge production and information systems	
Global targets for Action area 5	
Proposed actions for Member States	
Proposed actions for the WHO Secretariat	
Proposed actions for international partners, civil society organizations and academia	
Proposed measures for economic operators in alcohol production and trade	
Action Area 6: Resource mobilization	
Global targets for Action area 6	
Proposed actions for Member States	
Proposed actions for the WHO Secretariat	
Proposed actions for international partners, civil society organizations and academia	
Proposed measures for economic operators in alcohol production and trade	
ANNEX 1: INDICATORS AND MILESTONES FOR ACHIEVING GLOBAL TARGETS	
ANNEX 2: WHO EXECUTIVE BOARD DECISION EB146(14)	. 32

1 BACKGROUND

2 Setting the scene

3 1. Alcohol consumption is deeply embedded in the social landscape of many societies, and an 4 estimated 2.3 billion people drink alcoholic beverages around the world. At the same time, more 5 than half of the global population aged 15 years and older report having abstained from drinking 6 alcohol during the previous to survey 12 months. Several major factors have an impact on levels 7 and patterns of alcohol consumption in populations – such as historical trends in alcohol 8 consumption, the availability of alcohol, culture, economic status and implemented alcohol 9 control measures. At the individual level, patterns and levels of alcohol consumption are 10 determined by multiple factors that include gender, age and individual biological and 11 socioeconomic vulnerability factors as well as the policy environment. Prevailing social norms that 12 support drinking behaviour and mixed messages about the harms and benefits of drinking 13 encourage alcohol consumption, delay appropriate health-seeking behaviour and weaken 14 community action.

15 2. Alcohol is a psychoactive substance with intoxicating and dependence-producing properties. 16 The accumulated evidence indicates that alcohol consumption is associated with inherent health 17 risks, although health consequences of alcohol consumption vary significantly in magnitude and 18 nature between drinkers. At the population level, any level of alcohol consumption is associated 19 with preventable net harms associated with multiple health conditions such as injuries, alcohol 20 use disorders (AUD), liver diseases, cancers, cardiovascular diseases, but also includes harms to 21 others than drinkers. Several aspects of drinking have an impact on the health consequences of 22 alcohol consumption, namely: the volume of alcohol drunk over time; the pattern of drinking, in 23 particular drinking to intoxication; the drinking context; and the quality of the alcoholic beverage or its contamination with toxic substances such as methanol. Repeated consumption of alcoholic 24 25 beverages may lead to the development of alcohol use disorders (AUD), including alcohol 26 dependence that is characterized by impaired regulation of alcohol consumption and manifested 27 by impaired control over alcohol use, increasing precedence of alcohol use over other aspects of 28 life and specific physiological features¹.

3. The current draft of the action plan refers to the "harmful use of alcohol" as defined in the Global strategy to reduce the harmful use of alcohol as "drinking that causes detrimental health and social consequences for the drinker, the people around the drinker and society at large, as well as patterns of drinking that are associated with increased risk of adverse health outcomes"². Its concept is much broader than the clinical concept of diagnostic categories of the "harmful use" or "harmful pattern of use" which represent a part of a spectrum of "alcohol use disorders" in the International Classification of Diseases¹.

¹ International Classification of Diseases (ICD), 11th revision. Geneva: World Health Organization (<u>https://icd.who.int/en/</u>, accessed 5 June 2021).

² Global strategy to reduce the harmful use of alcohol. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44395, accessed 5 June 2021).

36 4. The overall disease burden attributable to alcohol consumption is unacceptably high. In 2016,³ 37 alcohol consumption resulted in some three million deaths (5.3% of all deaths) worldwide and 38 132.6 million disability-adjusted life years or DALYS (5.1% of all DALYs). Mortality from alcohol consumption is higher than from diseases such as tuberculosis, HIV/AIDS and diabetes. In 2016, 39 40 an estimated 2.3 million deaths and 106.5 million DALYs among men globally were attributable to 41 alcohol consumption. For women, the figures were 0.7 million and 26.1 million, respectively. 42 Worldwide, in 2016, alcohol was responsible for 7.2% of all premature mortality (in persons aged 43 69 years or less). Younger people were disproportionately affected by alcohol; 13.5% of all deaths 44 among 20-39 -year olds in 2016 were attributed to alcohol. The age-standardized alcohol-45 attributable burden of disease and injury was highest in the African Region, whereas the 46 proportions of all deaths and DALYs attributable to alcohol consumption were highest in the 47 European Region (10.1% of all deaths and 10.8% of all DALYs) followed by the Region of the 48 Americas (5.5% of deaths and 6.7% of DALYs). Approximately 49% of alcohol-attributable DALYs 49 are due to noncommunicable diseases (NCDs) and mental health conditions, and about 40% are 50 due to injury. According to estimates of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and 51 Development (OECD), in OECD and European Union (EU) countries alcohol-related diseases and 52 injuries cause life expectancy to be shortened by 0.9 years over the next 30 years.⁴

5. According to the latest WHO global estimates, 283 million people aged 15 years and older – 237
million men and 46 million women – live with AUD, accounting for 5.1% of the global adult
population. Alcohol dependence, as the most severe form of AUD, affects 2.6% of the world's
adults, or 144 million people.

57 6. The impact of the harmful use of alcohol⁵ on health and well-being is not limited to health 58 consequences; it incurs significant social and economic losses relating to costs in the justice sector, 59 costs from lost workforce productivity and unemployment, and costs assigned to pain and 60 suffering. The harmful use of alcohol can also result in harm to others, such as family members, 61 friends, co-workers and strangers. Among the most dramatic manifestations of harm to persons 62 other than drinkers are road traffic injuries and consequences of prenatal alcohol exposure that 63 may result in the development of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders (FASD). There is no safe limit 64 established for alcohol consumption at any stage of pregnancy. The harms to others may be very 65 tangible, specific and time-bound (e.g. injuries or damage) or may be less tangible and result from 66 suffering, poor health and well-being, and the social consequences of drinking (e.g. being harassed 67 or insulted, or feeling threatened).

68 6. Awareness and acceptance of the overall negative impact of alcohol consumption on a 69 population's health and safety is low among decision-makers and the general public. This is

³ Global status report on alcohol and health 2018. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/274603, accessed 5 June 2021). New WHO estimates of alcoholattributable disease burden for 2019 will be produced in 2021 and included in the final draft of the action plan.

⁴ The effect of COVID-19 on alcohol consumption, and policy responses to prevent harmful alcohol consumption. Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; 2021 (https://www.oecd.org/coronavirus/policy-responses/the-effect-of-covid-19-on-alcohol-consumption-and-policy-responses-to-prevent-harmful-alcohol-consumption-53890024/, accessed 5 June 2021).

influenced by commercial messaging and poorly-regulated marketing⁶ of alcoholic beverages which deprioritize efforts to counter the harmful use of alcohol in favour of other public health issues. The COVID-19 pandemic highlighted the importance of appropriate policy and health system responses to reduce the harmful use of alcohol during health emergencies.

74 7. The health and social burden attributable to alcohol consumption is largely preventable. 75 Historically, in recognition of the intoxicating, toxic and dependence-producing properties of 76 alcohol, there have always been attempts to regulate production, distribution and consumption 77 of alcoholic beverages. The protection of the health of populations by preventing and reducing the 78 harmful use of alcohol is a public health priority and should be a focus of alcohol policies and 79 alcohol control measures implemented at different levels.

80 Global strategy to reduce the harmful use of alcohol and its 81 implementation

82 The Global strategy and its mandate

83 8. The Global strategy to reduce the harmful use of alcohol, endorsed by the Sixty-third World 84 Health Assembly in May 2010 (Resolution WHA63.13), continues to be the only global policy 85 framework for reducing deaths and disabilities due to alcohol consumption in their entirety - from 86 mental health conditions and noncommunicable diseases to injuries and alcohol-attributable 87 infectious diseases. The Global Strategy builds on several WHO global and regional strategic 88 initiatives and represents the commitment by WHO Member States to sustained action at all 89 levels. Following the endorsement of the Global strategy, regional action plans aligned with the 90 Global strategy were developed or revised and adopted in WHO's Region of the Americas (2011) 91 and European Region (2012), and the Regional strategy for reducing the harmful use of alcohol 92 was developed and adopted in the WHO African Region (2013).

93 9. The Global strategy was developed to promote and support local, regional and global actions to 94 prevent and reduce the harmful use of alcohol. The strategy outlines key components for global 95 action, and recommends a portfolio of policy options and measures that could be considered for 96 implementation and adjusted as appropriate at the national level. These policy options take into 97 account national circumstances such as religious and cultural contexts, national public health 98 priorities, and resources, capacities and capabilities. The Global strategy also contains a set of 99 principles that should guide the development and implementation of policies at all levels.

100 10. Since the endorsement of the Global strategy in 2010, Member States' commitment to 101 reducing the harmful use of alcohol has been reinforced by the adoption of political declarations 102 emanating from high-level meetings of the United Nations General Assembly on NCDs. This 103 included the declaration in 2011 and subsequent adoption and implementation of the WHO Global 104 action plan for the prevention and control of NCDs 2013–2020. In 2019, the World Health 105 Assembly (in Resolution WHA72.11) extended the NCD Global action plan to 2030, ensuring its 106 alignment with the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. The NCD Global action plan lists 107 the harmful use of alcohol as one of four key risk factors for major NCDs. The action plan enables 108 Member States and other stakeholders to identify and use opportunities for synergies to tackle 109 more than one risk factor at the same time, to strengthen coordination and coherence between

⁶ In this document the term "marketing" is used with the meaning of any form of commercial communication or message that is designed to increase, or has the effect of increasing, the recognition, appeal and/or consumption of particular products and services. It could comprise anything that acts to advertise or otherwise promote a product or service.

measures to reduce the harmful use of alcohol and activities to prevent and control NCDs, and to set voluntary targets for reducing the harmful use of alcohol and other risk factors for NCDs.

11. The international mandate to reduce the harmful use of alcohol was further strengthened with 112 113 the adoption of the agenda of Sustainable Development Goals 2030 (SDG 2030)⁷. Reducing the 114 harmful use of alcohol will contribute to progress achieved with the attainment of multiple goals 115 and targets of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development and the Sustainable Development 116 Goals (SDGs). This includes goals on ending poverty (SDG 1), quality education (SDG 4), gender 117 equality (SDG 5), decent work and economic growth (SDG 8), reducing inequalities between and 118 within countries (SDG 10), as well as peace, justice and strong institutions (SDG 16). In view of the 119 negative impact of the harmful use of alcohol on the development and outcomes of many diseases 120 and health conditions, including major NCDs and injuries, effective reduction of the harmful use 121 of alcohol will make a substantial contribution to the achievement of good health and well-being worldwide (SDG 3). Furthermore, target 3.5 of SDG 3 includes the objective of strengthening the 122 123 prevention and treatment of substance abuse, including harmful use of alcohol. This reflects the 124 broader impact of harmful use of alcohol on health beyond NCDs and mental health (SDG target 125 3.4) - in areas such as road traffic accidents (SDG 3.6), reproductive health (SDG 3.7), universal 126 health coverage (3.8) and infectious diseases (SDG 3.3).

127 12. One of the guiding principles of the Global strategy states that public policies and interventions 128 to prevent and reduce alcohol-related harm should be guided and formulated by public health 129 interests and based on clear public health goals and the best available evidence. Evidence on the 130 cost-effectiveness of alcohol policy options and interventions was updated in a revision of 131 Appendix 3 to the NCD global action plan, and this appendix was endorsed by the Health Assembly 132 in Resolution WHA70.11 (2017). This resulted in a new set of enabling and recommended actions 133 to reduce the harmful use of alcohol. The most cost-effective actions, or "best buys", include 134 increasing taxes on alcoholic beverages, enacting and enforcing bans or comprehensive 135 restrictions on exposure to alcohol advertising across multiple types of media, and enacting and 136 enforcing restrictions on the physical availability of retailed alcohol. By prioritizing the most cost-137 effective policy measures, the WHO Secretariat and partners launched the SAFER initiative⁸ with 138 the primary objective to support WHO Member States in reducing the harmful use of alcohol by 139 enhancing ongoing implementation of the Global strategy and other WHO and United Nations 140 strategies. The WHO-led SAFER initiative, focuses on the support for implementation of cost-141 effective policy options and interventions. It also aims to protect public health-oriented policy-142 making against interference from commercial interests, to establish strong monitoring systems to 143 ensure accountability, and to track progress in the implementation of SAFER policy options and 144 interventions.

⁷ Transforming our World: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. UN, 2015

⁽https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/21252030%20Agenda%20for%20Sustainable %20Development%20web.pdf, accessed 26 September 2021).

⁸ The SAFER Initiative

⁽https://www.who.int/initiatives/SAFER#:~:text=The%20SAFER%20initiative%20A%20world%20free%20fr om%20alcohol,international%20partners%2C%20launched%20the%20SAFER%20initiative%20in%202018, accessed 26 September 2021)

145 Implementation of the Global strategy since its endorsement⁹

146 13. Since the endorsement of the Global strategy, its implementation has been uneven across 147 WHO regions as well as within regions and countries. The number of countries with a written 148 national alcohol policy has steadily increased and many countries have revised their existing 149 alcohol policies. However, the presence of written national alcohol policies continues to be most 150 common in high-income countries and least common among low-income countries, with written 151 national alcohol policies missing from most countries in the African Region and the Region of the 152 Americas. The disproportionate prevalence of effective alcohol control measures in higher-income 153 countries raises questions about global health equity. Specifically, it underscores the need for 154 more resources and greater priority to be allocated to support the development and 155 implementation of effective policies and actions in low- and middle-income countries.

156 14. Between 2010 and 2019 some progress was made in reducing total global alcohol per capita 157 consumption; the figures for people aged 15 years and over remained relatively stable in 2010 (6.1 158 litres) and 2015 (6.2 litres), and decreased to 5.8 litres in 2019, which corresponds to an 159 approximately 5% relative reduction globally in comparison to 2010. The highest levels of 160 consumption per capita were observed in countries in the European Region. Although 161 consumption per capita remained relatively stable between 2010 and 2019 in the Region of the 162 Americas (7.9 and 7.6 litres), the African Region (4.8 and 4.8 litres) and the Eastern Mediterranean Region (0.5 and 0.5 litres), it decreased in the Western Pacific Region (7.1 and 6.5 litres) and the 163 164 European Region (10.8 and 9.5 litres) – with the European Region surpassing the target (10% relative reduction) set in the global monitoring framework for NCDs for 2025. Consumption of 165 166 alcohol per capita increased, however, in the South-East Asia Region (3.4 and 4.3 litres). The 167 impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on levels and patterns of alcohol consumption and related harm 168 worldwide remains a topic of ongoing assessment.

169 15. The number of drinkers declined across all WHO regions between 2010 and 2019. More than 170 half of the global population aged 15 years and older abstained from drinking alcohol during the 171 previous 12 months. In 2019, alcohol was consumed by more than half of the population in three 172 of the six WHO regions: the Americas, European and the Western Pacific regions. Some 2.3 billion 173 people are current drinkers. Age-standardized prevalence of heavy episodic drinking (defined as 60 or more grams of pure alcohol on at least one occasion at least once per month) decreased 174 globally from 20.6% in 2010 to 18.0%¹⁰ in 2019 among the total population but remained high 175 176 among drinkers, particularly in parts of Eastern Europe and in some sub-Saharan African countries 177 (more than 60% among current drinkers). In all WHO regions, higher alcohol consumption rates 178 and higher prevalence rates of current drinkers are associated with the higher economic wealth 179 of countries. However, the prevalence of heavy episodic drinking is equally distributed between 180 higher- and lower-income countries in most regions. The two exceptions to this are the African 181 Region (where rates of heavy episodic drinking are higher in lower-income countries than in 182 higher-income countries) and the European Region (where, conversely, heavy episodic drinking is 183 more frequent in high-income countries).

(https://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf_files/EB146/B146_7Add1-en.pdf, accessed 5 June 2021).

⁹ Based on the Executive Board document EB146/7Add.1, 11 December 2019 and outcomes of the consultation process leading to the development of the draft action plan. EB146/7 Add.1: Follow-up to the high-level meetings of the United Nations General Assembly on health-related issues: findings of the consultative process on implementation of the global strategy to reduce the harmful use of alcohol and the way forward. Geneva: World Health Organization

¹⁰ Provisional WHO estimates, to be confirmed by the end of 2021.

16. Overall – despite some decreasing trends in alcohol consumption in most WHO regions, 185 improvements in the number of age-standardized alcohol-attributable deaths and DALYs in all 186 regions except South-East Asia, and progress with alcohol policy developments at national level – 187 the implementation of the Global strategy has not resulted in considerable reductions in alcohol-188 related morbidity and mortality and the ensuing social consequences. Globally, levels of alcohol 189 consumption and alcohol-attributable harm remain unacceptably high.

190 Challenges in implementation of the Global strategy

191 17. Considerable challenges remain for the development and implementation of effective alcohol 192 policies. These challenges relate to the complexity of the problem, differences in cultural norms 193 and contexts, the intersectoral nature of cost-effective solutions and associated limited levels of 194 political will and leadership at the highest levels of governments, as well as the influence of 195 powerful commercial interests in policy-making and implementation. These challenges operate 196 against a background of competing international economic commitments. Coordination and 197 cooperation at all levels for dealing with these challenges is further complicated by situations 198 when responsibility for actions to reduce the harmful use of alcohol is dispersed between different 199 entities – including government departments, different professions and technical areas.

200

201 18. The production of alcoholic beverages has become increasingly concentrated and globalized 202 in recent decades, particularly in the beer and spirits sectors. A significant proportion of alcoholic 203 beverages is consumed in heavy drinking occasions associated with significant health risks, and by 204 people affected by AUD. This highlights the inherent contradiction between the interests of 205 alcohol producers and public health. At the same time, there is mounting evidence that any level 206 of alcohol consumption is associated with health risks. Some countries experience substantial 207 challenges in protecting alcohol policy development from commercial interests, and the issue of 208 safeguarding alcohol policy development at all levels from alcohol industry interference is 209 consistently presented as a major challenge in international policy dialogues. Strong international 210 leadership is needed to counter interference from commercial interests in alcohol policy 211 development and implementation in order to prioritize the public health agenda for alcohol in the 212 face of a strong commercial interests associated with alcohol beverage production and trade. 213 Competing interests across the whole of government at the country level, including interests 214 related to the production and trade of alcohol and government revenues from alcohol taxation 215 and sales, often result in policy incoherence and the weakening of alcohol control efforts. The 216 situation varies at national and subnational levels and is heavily influenced by the commercial 217 interests of alcohol producers and distributors, religious beliefs, and spiritual and cultural norms. 218 General trends towards deregulation in recent decades have often resulted in a weakening of 219 alcohol controls, to the benefit of economic interests and to the expense of public health and 220 wellbeing.

19. Alcohol remains the only psychoactive and dependence-producing substance that exerts a significant impact on global population health that is not controlled at the international level by legally binding regulatory instruments. This absence limits the ability of national and subnational governments to regulate the distribution, sale and marketing of alcohol within the context of international, regional and bilateral trade negotiations. It also hampers efforts as to protect the development of alcohol policies from interference by transnational corporations and commercial interests. This has prompted calls for a global normative law on alcohol at the intergovernmental level, modelled on the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control, and discussions about
 the feasibility and necessity of such a legally binding international instrument¹¹.

230 20. Informally and illegally produced alcohol account for an estimated 25% of total alcohol 231 consumption per capita worldwide and, in some jurisdictions, exceed half of all alcohol consumed 232 by the population. Informal and illegal production and trade are different in nature and require 233 different policy and programme responses. Informal production and distribution of alcohol are 234 often embedded in cultural traditions and the socioeconomic fabrics of communities. Illicit alcohol 235 production is associated with significant health risks and challenges for regulatory and law 236 enforcement sectors of governments. The capacity to deal with informal or illicit production, 237 distribution and consumption of alcohol, including safety issues, is limited or inadequate, 238 particularly in jurisdictions where unrecorded alcohol makes up a significant proportion of all 239 alcohol consumed.

240 21. Satellite and digital marketing present a growing challenge for the effective control of alcohol 241 marketing and advertising. Alcohol producers and distributors have increasingly moved to 242 investing in digital marketing and using social media platforms, which are profit-making businesses 243 with an infrastructure designed to allow "programmatic native advertising" that is data-driven and 244 participatory. Internet marketing crosses borders with even greater ease than satellite television 245 and is not easily subjected to national-level control. In parallel with the greater opportunity for 246 marketing and selling alcohol through online platforms, delivery systems are rapidly evolving, 247 imposing considerable challenges on the ability of governments to control alcohol sales. From a 248 public health perspective, recent developments in marketing, advertising and promotional 249 activities related to alcoholic beverages are of deep concern, including those implemented 250 through cross-border marketing, and targeting of young people and adolescents.

251 22. Limited technical capacity, human resources and funding hinder efforts to developing, 252 implementing, enforcing and monitoring effective alcohol control interventions at all levels. Technical expertise in alcohol-control measures is often absent at national and subnational levels 253 254 and sufficient human and financial resources for the provision of essential technical assistance and 255 the compilation, dissemination and application of technical knowledge in practice have been 256 grossly insufficient at all levels of WHO. Few civil society organizations prioritize alcohol as a health 257 risk or motivate governments to action compared to organizations that support tobacco control. 258 In the absence of philanthropic funding, and with limited resources in WHO and other 259 intergovernmental organizations, there has been little investment in capacity-building in low- and 260 middle-income countries.

261 23. The lack of sufficiently developed national systems for monitoring alcohol consumption and
262 the impact of alcohol on health reduces the capacity of advocacy for effective alcohol-control
263 policies and for monitoring their implementation and impact.

264 **Opportunities for reducing the harmful use of alcohol**

24. In recent years, alcohol consumption among young people has decreased in many countries throughout Europe and in some other high-income societies, with the exception of some disadvantaged groups. The decline seems to be continuing into the next age group as the cohort ages. Capitalizing on this trend offers a considerable opportunity for public health policies and programmes. There is also a trend towards an increase in the proportion of former drinkers among people aged 15 years and above. One contributory factor is the increasing awareness of negative

¹¹ Unite for a Framework Convention for Alcohol Control. *Lancet*, 2019. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32214-1 (accessed 29 September 2021).

health and social consequences of the harmful use of alcohol, and alcohol's causal relationships with some types of cancer, liver and cardiovascular diseases, as well as its association with increased risk of infectious diseases such as tuberculosis and HIV/AIDS. Increasing the health literacy and health consciousness of the general public provides an opportunity for strengthening prevention activities and scaling up screening and brief interventions in health services.

276 25. While recognizing its negative influences and effects, social media also provides new 277 opportunities for changing peoples' relationship with alcohol through increased awareness of the 278 negative health consequences of drinking, and new horizons for communication and promotion 279 of recreational activities as an alternative to drinking and intoxication. At the same time, social 280 media can serve as a powerful source of marketing communication and brand promotion for 271 alcoholic beverages.

282 26. Alcohol consumption and its impact on health have been increasingly recognized as factors in 283 health inequality. Within a given society, adverse health impacts and social harm from a given level 284 and pattern of drinking are greater for poorer individuals and societies. Increased alcohol 285 consumption can exacerbate health and social inequalities between genders, social classes and 286 communities. Policies and programmes to reduce health inequalities and promote sustainable 287 development need to include sustained attention to alcohol policies and programmes.

288 27. The body of evidence for the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of alcohol control measures 289 has been significantly strengthened in recent years. The latest economic analysis undertaken 290 under the auspices of WHO demonstrated high returns on investment for "best buys" in alcohol 291 control. Every additional United States dollar invested in the most cost-effective interventions per 292 person per year will yield a return of US\$ 9.13 by 2030, a return that is higher than a similar 293 investment in tobacco control (US\$ 7.43) or prevention of physical inactivity (US\$ 2.80). The notion 294 that economic savings are greater than implementation costs for effective alcohol control policies 295 is supported by recent estimates from OECD which show that, for every dollar invested in a 296 comprehensive policy package, up to US\$ 16 are returned in economic benefits.¹²

297 28. The COVID-19 pandemic and measures to curb virus transmission (e.g. lockdowns, stay-at-298 home mandates) have had a significant impact on population health and well-being, as well as on 299 patterns of alcohol consumption, alcohol-related harms and implementation of existing policy and 300 programme responses. The COVID-19 outbreak has underscored the importance of developing 301 appropriate alcohol policy responses and alcohol-focused activities and interventions during 302 public health emergencies, and including alcohol policy responses as an important element of 303 preparedness for health emergencies. This will have important implications for reducing not only 304 the harmful use of alcohol at national, regional and global levels, but also the alcohol-related 305 health burden and demand for health service interventions during the pandemic.

306 Mandate for development of an action plan (2022–2030)

29. The WHO Executive Board in its 146th session considered the report on the political declaration

308 of the Third United Nations General Assembly High-level Meeting on the Prevention and Control

309 of Non-communicable Diseases, and particularly Annex 3 on "Implementation of the Global

¹² The effect of COVID-19 on alcohol consumption, and policy responses to prevent harmful alcohol consumption. Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; 2021 (https://www.oecd.org/coronavirus/policy-responses/the-effect-of-covid-19-on-alcohol-consumption-and-policy-responses-to-prevent-harmful-alcohol-consumption-53890024/, accessed 6 June 2021).

strategy to reduce the harmful use of alcohol"¹³ and the report on the findings of the consultative 310 process on implementation of the global strategy and the way forward. The Board, in its decision 311 312 EB146(14),¹⁴ requested the WHO Director-General to, *inter alia*, "develop an action plan (2022– 2030) to effectively implement the Global strategy to reduce the harmful use of alcohol as a public 313 314 health priority, in consultation with Member States and relevant stakeholders, for consideration 315 by the Seventy-fifth World Health Assembly, through the 150th session of the WHO Executive 316 Board in 2022". In the same decision, the Board further requested the Director-General "to 317 develop a technical report on the harmful use of alcohol related to cross-border alcohol marketing, advertising and promotional activities, including those targeting youth and adolescents, before 318 319 the 150th session of the WHO Executive Board, which could contribute to the development of the 320 action plan", as well as "to adequately resource the work on the harmful use of alcohol".

321 Process of development of an action plan (2022–2030)

30. The current draft of an action plan was developed by the WHO Secretariat by implementingthe following activities:

- production of a zero draft of the working document with proposed essential elements and components (April–June 2020);
- technical expert meeting to discuss the zero draft of the working document for development of the action plan and the content of the technical report on the harmful use of alcohol related to cross-border alcohol marketing, advertising and promotional activities
 (10–12 June 2020);
- finalization and translation of the working document to make it available in the six official languages of WHO, followed by a web-based consultation on the working document open to Member States, United Nations organizations and other international organizations, and non-State actors (16 November – 13 December 2020);¹⁵
- regional technical consultations with Member States on the working document for
 development of the action plan (2022–2030):
- 336 in the Eastern Mediterranean Region (23 February 2021)
- 337 in the South-East Asia Region (10 11 March 2021)
- 338 in the Region of Americas (16 17 March 2021)
- 339 in the European Region (25 26 March 2021)
- 340 in the African Region (31 March 1 April 2021)
- 341 in the Western Pacific Region/by correspondence/(March April 2021); and

¹³ Executive Board document EB146/7, 11 December 2019. Follow-up to the high-level meetings of the United Nations General Assembly on health-related issues: Political declaration of the third high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of non-communicable diseases. Geneva: World Health Organization (https://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf_files/EB146/B146_7-en.pdf, accessed 6 June 2021).)

¹⁴ Executive Board document EB146(14), 7 February 2020. Accelerating action to reduce the harmful use of alcohol. Geneva: World Health Organization (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/decision-eb146(14)-accelerating-action-to-reduce-the-harmful-use-of-alcohol, accessed 6 June 2021).

¹⁵ Submissions with feedback on the working document received by the Secretariat are available from WHO at: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/articles-detail/global-action-plan-to-reduce-the-harmful-use-of-alcohol</u> (accessed 6 June 2021).

- 342 ٠ development of the first draft of the action plan based on input received on the working 343 document in the process of the regional consultations (April – June 2021); 344 discussions of the first draft with representatives of civil society organizations, technical ٠ 345 focal points from Member States, representatives of UN entities and academia at the 346 Third WHO Forum on Alcohol, Drugs and Addictive Behaviours (FADAB III) (25 June 2021); 347 ٠ dialogue with economic operators in alcohol production and trade on proposed measures 348 for economic operators in the first draft of the action plan (29 June 2021); 349 ٠ web-based consultation on the first draft of the action plan open to Member States, United Nations organizations and other international organizations, and non-State actors 350 351 (27 July 2021 – 3 September 2021); 352 informal consultation with Member States on the first draft of the action plan (31 August ٠ 353 2021); 354 ٠ development of the second draft of the action plan and informal consultation with 355 Member States on the second draft (8 October 2021);
- finalization of the draft action plan and submission for consideration by 150th session of
 the Executive Board (October 2021).

358 SCOPE OF THE ACTION PLAN

359 31. The Global strategy to reduce the harmful use of alcohol was recognized by WHO Member 360 States at the 146th session of the Executive Board (2020) (Annex 2) as continuing to be relevant 361 and, at that same session, the Board requested a review of the Global strategy, with a report to 362 the Executive Board at its 166th session in 2030 for further action.

363 32. The proposed draft of the action plan is based on guidance provided by the Global strategy 364 with regard to global action, its key role and components, and on lessons learned from 365 implementation of the Global strategy and regional strategies and action plans on alcohol over the 366 last 10 years.

367 33. The draft action plan includes specific actions and measures to be implemented at the global 368 level in line with key roles and components of global action, as formulated in the Global strategy, 369 and the latest available evidence on effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of policy options to 370 reduce the harmful use of alcohol. The proposed actions and measures are presented in six action 371 areas that correspond to the following key components of global action included in the Global 372 strategy: (1) public health advocacy and partnership; (2) technical support and capacity building; 373 (3) production and dissemination of knowledge; and, (4) resource mobilization. An action area on 374 implementation of high-impact strategies and interventions was included in the draft action plan 375 based on evidence of the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of different policy options and 376 reflecting the lessons learned from implementation of the Global strategy. The proposed actions 377 and measures included in action area 1, when implemented and enforced, have the highest 378 potential for reducing the harmful use of alcohol. These measures are prioritized in the draft 379 action plan in view of the evidence of their cost-effectiveness and in view of insufficient progress 380 achieved globally with reducing the harmful use of alcohol to date. Their prioritization and 381 implementation at the national and sub-national levels, as well as prioritization of other policy 382 options and interventions recommended by the Global strategy, is at the discretion of each 383 Member State depending on their needs, status of implementation of these measures in a country. 384 It is also dependent on national and sub-national social, economic and cultural contexts, public 385 health priorities and health system policies, and available resources.

34. The actions and measures proposed in the draft action plan address all 10 recommended target
 policy areas included in the Global strategy for consideration by Member States. Global efforts
 articulated in the draft action plan are envisaged to support and complement policy measures and

interventions implemented at the national level in the following 10 areas recommended in the Global strategy: (1) leadership, awareness and commitment; (2) health services' response; (3) community action; (4) drink-driving policies and countermeasures; (5) availability of alcohol; (6) marketing of alcoholic beverages; (7) pricing policies; (8) reducing the negative consequences of drinking and alcohol intoxication; (9) reducing the public health impact of illicit alcohol and informally produced alcohol; and, (10) monitoring and surveillance.

395 35. As highlighted in the Global strategy, its successful implementation requires concerted actions 396 by Member States, effective global governance and appropriate engagement of all relevant 397 stakeholders. The draft action plan includes proposed actions for international partners and non-398 State actors such as civil society organizations, professional associations, academia and research institutions. Furthermore, the draft action plan outlines proposed actions for economic operators 399 in alcohol production and trade¹⁶ in line with the mandates provided by the global strategy (e.g. 400 paragraph 45(d)), and other relevant policy guidance and policies including, but not limited to, the 401 402 WHO Framework of engagement with non-State actors (FENSA).¹⁷

403 36. The draft action plan is linked to and aligned with other relevant global action plans and 404 commitments, including the UN Sustainable Development Agenda 2030, UN Political declaration 405 on universal health coverage, Comprehensive mental health action plan 2013-2030, the Global 406 action plan for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases 2013-2030, UN Political 407 declaration on noncommunicable diseases, the Global action plan on the public health response 408 to dementia, and the Global plan of action to address interpersonal violence.

37. The draft action plan is envisaged to strengthen implementation of the Global strategy at all
levels with acknowledgement that implementation of the action plan at national level and
prioritization of proposed actions and measures depend on national contexts.

412 **GOAL OF THE ACTION PLAN**

413 38. The goal of the action plan is to boost effective implementation of the Global strategy to reduce 414 the harmful use of alcohol as a public health priority and considerably reduce morbidity and 415 mortality due to alcohol consumption– over and above general morbidity and mortality trends – 416 and associated social consequences. The action plans also aims to improve the health and well-417 being of populations globally.

418 39. Effective implementation of the action plan at regional levels will require development or
419 elaboration and adaptation of region-specific action plans in coordination with the WHO
420 Secretariat for more efficient and consistent progress to be made.

¹⁶ In this document "economic operators in alcohol production and trade" means manufacturers of alcoholic beverages, wholesale distributors, major retailers and importers that deal solely and exclusively in alcoholic beverages or whose primary income comes from trade in alcohol beverages, as well as business associations or other non-State actors representing any of the afore-mentioned entities. ¹⁷ Framework of engagement with non-State actors. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018

⁽http://apps.who.int/gb/bd/PDF/Framework Engagement non-State Actors.pdf, accessed 6 June 2021).

421 **OPERATIONAL OBJECTIVES OF THE ACTION PLAN**

432

435

440

444

449

40. The proposed operational objectives of the action plan 2022–2030 and the proposed action areas are aligned with the objectives of the Global strategy¹⁸ and four key components of global action to reduce the harmful use of alcohol effectively.¹⁹ However, the operational objectives of the draft action plan are not identical to those of the Global strategy. The following operational objectives of the draft action plan reflect the action-oriented nature of the action plan, as well as more recent goals and objectives of other relevant global strategies and action plans, and lessons learned in implementing the Global strategy since its endorsement:

- Increase population coverage, implementation and enforcement of high-impact policy
 options and interventions to reduce the harmful use of alcohol worldwide for better
 health and well-being.
- 433 2. Strengthen multisectoral action through effective governance, enhanced political434 commitment, leadership, dialogue and coordination of multisectoral action.
- 436
 436
 437
 438
 438
 439
 439
 438
 439
 439
 439
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
 430
- 441
 44. Raise awareness of risks and harms associated with alcohol consumption and its impact
 442 on health and well-being of individuals, families, communities and nations as well as of
 443 effectiveness of different policy options to reduce consumption and related harm.
- 5. Strengthen information systems and research for monitoring alcohol consumption,
 alcohol-related harm, their determinants and modifying factors, policy responses at all
 levels with dissemination and application of information for advocacy in order to inform
 policy and intervention development and evaluation.
- 450 6. Significantly increase mobilization of resources required for appropriate and sustained451 action to reduce the harmful use of alcohol at all levels.

 ¹⁸ Global strategy to reduce the harmful use of alcohol. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2010; page 8 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44395, accessed 5 June 2021).
 ¹⁹ Ibid, pages 19-23.

452 **OPERATIONAL PRINCIPLES**

41. The Global strategy includes guiding principles for the development and implementation of
 alcohol policies at all levels²⁰, and

In the draft action plan, the guiding principles listed in the Global strategy are complemented bythe following operational action-oriented guiding principles:

- 457 **Multisectoral action.** Development, implementation and enforcement of alcohol control 458 policies at all levels require the concerted multisectoral action with engagement by the health 459 sector and other relevant sectors such as customs, education, finance and law enforcement, 460 as appropriate, to address the harmful use of alcohol in their activities.
- 461 **Universal health coverage.** All individuals and communities receive the health services they 462 need without suffering financial hardship to reduce the health burden caused by harmful use 463 of alcohol, including the full spectrum of essential quality health services, from health 464 promotion to prevention, treatment, rehabilitation, and palliative care across the life course.
- 465 **Life course approach.** Recognizing the importance and interrelationship of alcohol control 466 measures and prevention and treatment strategies and interventions to prevent and reduce 467 alcohol-related harm at all stages of a person's life and for all generations. This ranges from 468 eliminating the marketing, advertising and sale of alcoholic products to minors and protection 469 of the unborn child from prenatal alcohol exposure, to prevention and management of the 470 harmful use of alcohol in older people.
- 471 Protection from commercial interests. Development of public policies to reduce the harmful
 472 use of alcohol should be protected, in accordance with national laws, from commercial and
 473 other vested interests that can interfere with and undermine the public health objectives.
- 474 Equity-based approach. Public health policies and interventions to reduce the harmful use of
 475 alcohol should be aimed at reducing health inequalities and protecting people from different
 476 groups (across social, biological, economical, demographical or geographical divides) from
 477 alcohol-related harm.
- Human rights approach. Protection from alcohol-related harm and access to prevention and
 treatment of AUD within health systems contributes to fulfilment of the right to the highest
 attainable standard of health; strategies and interventions to reduce the harmful use of
 alcohol should address and eliminate discriminatory practices (both real and perceived) with
 regard to prevention measures and health and social services for people with AUD.
- Empowering of people and communities. Development and implementation of strategies and
 interventions to reduce the harmful use of alcohol and protect people and communities from
 alcohol-related harm should provide opportunities for active engagement and empowerment
 of people and communities, including people with lived experiences of alcohol-related harm
 or AUD.

²⁰ Global strategy to reduce the harmful use of alcohol. Geneva: World Health Organization,; 2010, page 9 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44395, accessed 5 June 2021).

488 **KEY AREAS FOR GLOBAL ACTION**

42. To achieve the above-listed goal and objectives, the following key areas are proposed for action
by Member States, the WHO Secretariat, international and national partners and, as appropriate,

491 other stakeholders:

- 492 Action area 1: Implementation of high-impact strategies and interventions
- 493 Action area 2: Advocacy, awareness and commitment
- 494 Action area 3: Partnership, dialogue and coordination
- 495 Action area 4: Technical support and capacity-building
- 496 Action area 5: Knowledge production and information systems
- 497 Action area 6: Resource mobilization.

43. At the national level, Member States have the primary responsibility for development,
implementation, monitoring and evaluation of public policies to reduce the harmful use of alcohol
according to their national needs and contexts. The roles of other stakeholders may differ across
Member States.

502 Action area 1: Implementation of high-impact strategies and interventions

503 44. Limited global progress – or no progress at all in some parts of the world – achieved so far in 504 reducing the harmful use of alcohol can be explained by insufficient uptake, implementation and 505 enforcement of the most effective and cost-effective alcohol policies and interventions. The goal 506 of considerably reducing morbidity and mortality due to alcohol consumption over and above 507 general morbidity and mortality trends and associated social consequences can be achieved by 508 tackling the determinants driving the acceptability, availability and affordability of alcohol 509 consumption while strengthening the coverage and implementation of comprehensive and 510 integrated policy options and measures with proven effectiveness.

45. The most effective and cost-effective policy options and interventions are summarized in
Appendix 3 of the Global Action Plan for the Prevention and Control of NCDs, endorsed by the 70th
World Health Assembly. These policy options and interventions constitute core elements of the
SAFER initiative and SAFER technical package. Other policy options and interventions will be
subject to analysis as evidence emerge regarding their effectiveness.

516 Global targets for Action area 1

- 517 **Global target 1.1:** By 2030, 75% of countries have developed and enacted national alcohol policies 518 that are based on the best available evidence and supported by legislative measures for effective 510 implementation of birb impact strategies and interventions ²¹
- 519 implementation of high-impact strategies and interventions.²¹

²¹ Included in the SAFER technical package and upcoming updates.

520 **Global target 1.2:** At least a 20% relative reduction (in comparison with 2010) in the harmful use of alcohol achieved by 2030.²²

522 **Proposed actions for Member States**

- 523Action 1.On the basis of the evidence of the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of policy measures, to promote524prioritization, according to national needs and contexts, of sustainable implementation, continued525enforcement, monitoring and evaluation of high-impact cost-effective policy options, included in the526WHO SAFER technical package, as well as other interventions that will be proven to be cost-effective527based on upcoming evidence, including assurance of universal access to affordable treatment and528care for people with AUD within national health systems.
- Action 2. Consider, as appropriate for a national context, developing national action plans, roadmaps or action
 frameworks to accelerate the implementation of the global and regional commitments.
- 531Action 3.Develop, strengthen, update as necessary and implement national alcohol policies with legislative532measures to support high-impact strategies and interventions.
- Action 4. Ensure that development, implementation and evaluation of alcohol policy measures are based on
 public health goals and the best available evidence, and are protected from interference of commercial
 interests.
- Action 5. Build or strengthen and support broad partnerships and intragovernmental and intergovernmental
 mechanisms at different levels for collaboration across different sectors for implementation of
 prioritized policy options.

539 **Proposed actions for the WHO Secretariat**

- 540Action 1.Provide policy and technical guidance, advocacy and, as required, technical assistance for the
assessment and development, implementation and evaluation of effective and cost-effective policy
options.
- 543Action 2.Periodically review the evidence of effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of alcohol policy options and
interventions, and formulate and disseminate recommendations for reducing the harmful use of
alcohol.
- Action 3. Develop a portfolio of policy guidance for outlet locations and densities; implementation of minimum pricing and taxation policies; regulating alcohol marketing, sponsorships, promotions and advertising, also via social media; management of unrecorded alcohol; management of conflicts of interest in policy design and implementation; development and implementation of warning labels.
- 550Action 4.Promote a comprehensive approach for tackling the determinants driving the acceptability, availability551and affordability of alcohol consumption thereby ensuring a comprehensive portfolio of population-552wide interventions expanding from health promotion and prevention to screening and treatment553interventions.

554 **Proposed actions for international partners, civil society organizations and academia**

555 Action 1. Major partners within the United Nations system and intergovernmental organizations are invited to 556 increase collaboration and cooperation with WHO on the development, implementation and 557 evaluation of high-impact policy measures, and by joining the WHO-led SAFER initiative. 558 Action 2. Civil society organizations and academia are invited to strengthen advocacy and support for 559 implementation of high-impact policy options by creating enabling environments, promoting the 560 SAFER initiative, strengthening global and regional networks and action groups, developing and 561 strengthening accountability frameworks, and monitoring activities and commitments of economic 562 operators in alcohol production and trade.

²² 20% figure is based on the latest available WHO data and trends since 2010, but can be adjusted on the basis of analysis of the forthcoming WHO estimates for 2019 and taking into consideration the relevant impact on COVID-19.

563 Proposed measures for economic operators in alcohol production and trade

564	Economic operators in alcohol production and trade are called on to focus on effective ways to
565	prevent and reduce harmful use of alcohol within their core roles as developers, producers,
566	distributors, marketers and sellers of alcoholic beverages, and refrain from activities that may
567	prevent, delay or stop the development, enactment and enforcement of high-impact strategies and
568	interventions to reduce the harmful use of alcohol. Economic operators in alcohol production and
569	trade, as well as economic operators in other relevant sectors (such as retail, advertisements,
570	hospitality, tourism, social media and communication), are encouraged to contribute to the
571	elimination of marketing and sales of alcoholic beverages to minors and targeted commercial
572	activities towards other high-risk groups, and to take other actions to contribute to the elimination
573	of such marketing practices within regulatory and co-regulatory frameworks.

574 Action area 2: Advocacy, awareness and commitment

46. Strategic and well-developed international communication and advocacy are needed to raise awareness about alcohol-related harms and the effectiveness of policy measures among decisionmakers and the general public in order to increase their support for faster implementation of the Global strategy. Special efforts and activities are needed to mobilize different stakeholders for coordinated actions to protect public health and foster broad political commitment to reduce the harmful use of alcohol.

581 47. It is necessary to raise awareness among decision-makers and the general public about the 582 risks and harms associated with alcohol consumption. Appropriate attention should be given to 583 prevention of the initiation of drinking among children and adolescents, prevention of drinking 584 among pregnant women, and protection of people from pressures to drink, especially in societies 585 with high levels of alcohol consumption where heavy drinkers are encouraged to drink even more. 586 An international day or week of awareness on the harmful use of alcohol or a "World no alcohol 587 day/week") could help to focus and reinforce public attention on the problem. Public health 588 advocacy is more likely to succeed if it is well supported by evidence and based on emerging 589 opportunities, and if the arguments are free from moralizing. International discourse on alcohol 590 policy development and implementation should address health inequalities associated with the 591 harmful use of alcohol and its broad socioeconomic impacts, including impact on attainment of 592 the health and other targets of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. The impact of 593 harmful use of alcohol on health and well-being should not be limited to the impact on NCDs, but 594 should be expanded to include other areas of health and development such as mental health, 595 injuries, violence, infectious diseases, productivity at workplaces, family functioning and a "harm 596 to others" perspective, including the impact on financial and psychological security. Modern 597 communication technologies and multimedia materials are needed for successful advocacy and 598 behavioural change campaigns, including social media engagement. Such awareness, along with 599 the development and enforcement of alcohol policies, needs to be protected from interference by 600 commercial interests. Appropriate mechanisms that involve academia and civil society must be set 601 up in order to systematically monitor, prevent and counteract such interference.

602 Global target for Action area 2

Global target 2.1: By 2030, 50% of countries are periodically producing national reports on alcohol
 consumption, alcohol-related harm and effective policy responses targeting decision-makers and
 the general public.

606 **Proposed actions for Member States**

607Action 1.On the basis of evidence of the nature and magnitude of alcohol-attributable public health problems,
advocate for the development and implementation of high-impact strategies, interventions and other
actions to prevent and reduce alcohol-related harm. This includes a special emphasis on protecting at-
risk populations and those affected by the harmful drinking of others, preventing initiation of drinking

611 612		among children and adolescents, preventing drinking in pregnancy, and preventing FASD, also by providing information about the risks of drinking when planning pregnancy or breastfeeding.
613 614	Action 2.	Raise awareness of health risks and harms associated with different levels and patterns of alcohol consumption with the aim to reduce the levels of alcohol consumption among drinkers.
615	Action 3.	Advocate for appropriate attention, congruous with the magnitude of related public health problems,
616		to reducing the harmful use of alcohol in multisectoral policies and frameworks as well as in national,
617		economic, environmental, agricultural and other relevant policies and action plans.
618	Action 4.	Include a commitment to reduce the harmful use of alcohol and its impact on health and well-being in
619		high-level national developmental and public health strategies, programmes and action plans, and
620		support the creation and development of advocacy coalitions.
621	Action 5.	Public health authorities should regularly produce (every 2–3 years in most countries) national reports
622		on alcohol consumption and alcohol-related harm targeting decision-makers and the general public
623		with information on alcohol's contribution to specific health and social problems, and dissemination
624 625	A 11 C	of information through available modern communication technologies.
625	Action 6.	Increase awareness of the health risks of alcohol consumption and related overall impact on health
626 627		and well-being through strategic, well-developed and long-term communication activities targeting
627		the general population, and with a special focus on youth. This should include an option of a national
628		alcohol-related harm awareness day/week/month to be implemented by public health agencies and
630		organizations, involving countering misinformation and using targeted communication channels, including social media platforms.
631	Action 7.	Ensure appropriate consumer protection measures through development and implementation of
632	ACTION 7.	labelling requirements for alcoholic beverages that display essential information for health protection
633		on alcohol content in a way that it is understood by consumers, other ingredients, caloric value and
634		health warnings.
635	Action 8.	Ensure consumer protection measures through development and implementation of product quality
636		control measures for alcoholic beverages.
637	Action 9.	Support education, training and networking activities on reducing the harmful use of alcohol for
638		representatives of authorities at different levels, health and education professionals, civil society
639		organizations, youth organizations, journalists and mass media representatives, and taking into
640		consideration ineffectiveness and risks of the current "responsible drinking" campaigns designed as
641		marketing campaigns by alcohol producers and distributors.
642	Action 10.	Bridging knowledge and practice by organizing and supporting policy dialogues, webinars and
643		roundtables with a focus on particular technical areas pertinent to alcohol to alcohol control and
644		prevention of alcohol-related harm.

645 **Proposed actions for the WHO Secretariat**

646 647 648 649	Action 1.	Raise the priority given to the alcohol-attributable health and social burden, and effective policy responses in the agendas of high-level global, regional and other international forums, meetings and conferences of international and intergovernmental organizations, professional associations and civil society groups, and seek inclusion of alcohol policies in relevant social and development agendas.
650	Action 2.	Develop and implement an organization-wide communication plan to support actions to reduce the
651 652		harmful use of alcohol reflecting emerging challenges (such as the COVID-19 pandemic), targeting different population groups and using different communication channels.
653	Action 3.	Prepare and disseminate every 2-3 years global status reports on alcohol and health to raise
654		awareness of the alcohol-attributable burden, and advocate for appropriate action at all levels.
655	Action 4.	Develop, test and disseminate technical and advocacy tools for effective communication of consistent,
656		scientifically sound and clear messages about alcohol-attributable health and social problems, health
657		risks associated with alcohol consumption, including those from the interaction of alcohol with the
658		treatment of common health conditions, and effective policy and programme responses.
659	Action 5.	Review, update and disseminate WHO nomenclature and definitions of alcohol-related terms,
660		particularly in the area of alcohol policy and monitoring.
661	Action 6.	Ensure timely countering of widespread myths and disinformation about health effects of alcohol
662		consumption and alcohol control measures, and provide technical support to Member States in this
663		regard, as required.
664	Action 7.	Develop international guidance on labelling of alcoholic beverages to inform consumers about the
665		content of products and health risks associated with their consumption.
666	Action 8.	To facilitate dialogue and information exchange regarding the impact of international aspects of the
667		alcohol market on the alcohol-attributable health burden, advocate for appropriate consideration of
668		these aspects by parties in international trade negotiations, and seek international solutions within
669		WHO's mandate if appropriate actions to protect the health of populations cannot be implemented.

670 Proposed actions for international partners, civil society organizations and academia

671 672 673 674	Action 1.	Major partners within the United Nations system and intergovernmental organizations are invited to include activities for reducing the harmful use of alcohol in their agendas and ensure support for policy coherence between health and other sectors in international multisectoral policies, strategies and frameworks, as well as proper deference of public health interests in relation to competing interests.
675 676 677 678 679 680	Action 2.	Civil society organizations, professional associations and academia are invited to scale up their activities in support of global, regional and national awareness and advocacy campaigns, as well as in countering misinformation about alcohol consumption and associated health risks. They are also invited to motivate and engage different stakeholders, as appropriate, in the implementation of effective strategies and interventions to reduce the harmful use of alcohol, and to monitor activities that undermine effective public health measures.

681

1 Proposed measures for economic operators in alcohol production and trade

682	Economic operators in alcohol production and trade as well as operators in other relevant sectors of
683	the economy are invited to take concrete steps towards eliminating the marketing and advertising of
684	alcoholic products to minors, and, where relevant, developing and enforcing self-regulatory measures
685	on marketing and advertising in conjunction with the development and enforcement of statutory
686	regulations or within a co-regulatory framework. The economic operators are invited to refrain from
687	promoting drinking, eliminate and prevent any positive health claims related to alcohol, and ensure,
688	within regulatory or co-regulatory frameworks, the availability of easily understood consumer
689	information on the labels of alcoholic beverages (including composition, age limits, health warnings
690	and contraindications for alcohol consumption).

691 Action area 3: Partnership, dialogue and coordination

692 48. New partnerships and appropriate engagement of all relevant stakeholders are needed to 693 build capacity and support implementation of practical and focused technical packages that can ensure returns on investments within "Health for All" and "whole-of-society" approaches. 694 695 Increased coordination between health and other sectors such as social welfare, finance, 696 transport, sport, culture, communication, education, trade, agriculture, customs and law 697 enforcement, as well as a multi-sectorial accountability framework are required for 698 implementation of effective multisectoral measures to reduce the harmful use of alcohol and to 699 ensure policy coherence. The WHO-led SAFER initiative and partnership to promote and support 700 the implementation of "best buys", alongside other recommended alcohol-control measures at 701 the country level, can invigorate action in countries through coordination with WHO's partners 702 both within and outside the United Nations system. Effective alcohol control, including measures 703 to address unrecorded alcohol consumption, requires a "whole-of-government" and "whole-of-704 society" approach with clear leadership by the public health sector and appropriate engagement 705 of other government sectors, civil society organizations, academic institutions and, as appropriate, 706 the private sector. There is a need to strengthen the role of civil society in alcohol policy 707 development and implementation.

49. Global and regional networks of country focal points and WHO national counterparts for
reducing the harmful use of alcohol, as well as technical experts, will facilitate country
cooperation, knowledge transfer and capacity-building. The technical networks and platforms
should focus on particularly challenging technical areas and situations such as the control of digital
marketing, social media advertising or reducing the harmful use of alcohol during health
emergencies such as the COVID-19 pandemic.

50. The continuing global dialogue with economic operators in alcohol production and trade should focus on the industry's contribution to reducing the harmful use of alcohol in their roles as developers, producers and distributors/sellers of alcoholic beverages. This dialogue should also aim for implementation of comprehensive restrictions or bans on traditional, online or digital marketing (including sponsorship), as well as on the role of economic operators in the regulation of sales, e-commerce, delivery, product formulation and labelling, and on providing data on production and sales. The dialogue should engage, as appropriate, economic operators in other sectors of the economy directly involved in distribution, sales and marketing of alcoholic beverages.

723 Global targets for Action area 3

Global target 3.1: x% ²³ of countries have established and functioning national multisectoral
 coordination mechanism for the implementation and strengthening of national multisectoral
 alcohol policy responses.

Global target 3.2: 75% of countries are engaged in and contribute to the work of the global and
 regional networks of WHO national counterparts for international dialogue and coordination on
 reducing the harmful use of alcohol.

730 **Proposed actions for Member States**

- 731Action 1.Encourage mobilization and active and appropriate engagement of all relevant entities and groups in
reducing the harmful use of alcohol within a "whole-of-society" approach, and also by advocating for
appropriate coordination and accountability mechanisms, strategies and action plans in the context of
the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, taking into consideration any stakeholder conflicts of
interest.
- Action 2. Ensure effective national governance, policy coherence and coordination of activities of all relevant stakeholders in the implementation of national strategies, action plans and policies to reduce the harmful use of alcohol, and to ensure policy coherence.
- Action 3. Build and support a broad multisectoral mechanism for formulating and implementation of public
 health policies to reduce the harmful use of alcohol and adopt a "whole-of-government" approach to
 protection of the health and well-being of populations from alcohol-related harm.
- Action 4. Collaborate with the WHO Secretariat on implementation of the Global strategy and through
 representation in WHO's global and regional networks of national counterparts and (technical)
 contributions to their working mechanisms, processes and structures.
- Action 5. Document and share experiences and information on the development, implementation and evaluation of multisectoral actions to reduce the harmful use of alcohol at national and subnational levels.

748 **Proposed actions for the WHO Secretariat**

- 749Action 1.Further develop and strengthen broad international partnerships on reducing the harmful use of
alcohol and support international mechanisms for intersectoral collaboration with United Nations
entities, civil society, academia and professional organizations.
- 752Action 2.Liaise and cooperate with major partners within the United Nations system and intergovernmental
organizations, and coordinate and develop collaborative activities through the functioning of
interagency working mechanisms on reducing harmful use of alcohol, including those established for
mental health, non-communicable diseases and health promotion.
- Action 3. To provide support to the global and regional networks of WHO national counterparts and their working mechanisms and procedures by ensuring regular information exchange and their effective functioning. This may include the establishment of working groups or task teams addressing priority areas for reducing the harmful use of alcohol.
- Action 4. To facilitate dialogue and information exchange on the impact of international aspects of the alcohol market on the alcohol-attributable health burden and advocate for appropriate consideration of these aspects by parties in international trade negotiations.
- Action 5. To support international collaboration and information exchange among public health-oriented NGOs, academic institutions and professional associations, with a special focus on facilitating multisectoral collaboration, ensuring policy coherence (with due consideration of differences in cultural contexts),

²³ A target figure to be defined on the basis of reanalysis of the WHO global SDG health target 3.5 survey implemented in 2019-2020.

- 766 and support for strengthening the contributions of civil society organizations to alcohol policy 767 development and implementation. 768 Action 6. Every second year organize an international forum on reducing the harmful use of alcohol within the 769 WHO Forum on alcohol, drugs and addictive behaviours (FADAB) with participation of representatives 770 of Member States, United Nations entities and other intergovernmental and international 771 organizations, civil society organizations and professional associations, and support broader 772 representation of civil society organizations from low- and middle-income countries. Organize regular 773 (yearly or every second year, as considered necessary by WHO Secretariat) global dialogues with 774 economic operators in alcohol production and trade in line with the relevant mandates and policies, 775 including, but not limited to, the WHO Framework of engagement with non-State actors (FENSA), 776 focused on and limited to the industry's contribution to reducing the harmful use of alcohol as 777 developers, producers and distributors/sellers of alcoholic beverages. Dialogues will not focus on the 778 development of alcohol control policies. 779
- Action 7. Convening permanent dialogue with civil society, supporting coalition building and strengthening capacity of civil society organizations to advocate and lobby for effective measures to reduce the harmful use of alcohol.

782 Proposed actions for international partners, civil society organizations and academia

- Action 1. Major partners within the United Nations system and intergovernmental organizations are invited to include, as appropriate, implementation of the Global strategy and action plan 2022–2030 in their developmental strategies and action plans, and to develop horizontal multisectoral programmes and partnerships to reduce the harmful use of alcohol as a public health priority, in line with the guiding principles of the Global strategy.
- 788Action 2.Civil society organizations, professional associations and academia are invited to prioritize and
strengthen their activities on reducing the harmful use of alcohol, by motivating and engaging their
stakeholders in implementation of the Global strategy within existing partnerships or by developing
new collaborative frameworks, and by promoting and supporting, within their roles and mandates,
intersectoral and multisectoral collaboration and dialogue while monitoring and countering undue
influences from commercial vested interests that undermine attainment of public health objectives.

794 Proposed measures for economic operators in alcohol production and trade

795Economic operators in alcohol production and trade are invited to focus on implementation of796measures that can contribute to reducing the harmful use of alcohol, which are stringently within797their core roles as developers, producers, distributors, marketers and sellers of alcoholic beverages,798and abstain from interfering with alcohol policy development, enactment, enforcement and799evaluation.

800 Action area 4: Technical support and capacity-building

51. There is a need to strengthen the capacity and capability of countries to create, enforce and 801 802 sustain the necessary policy and legislative frameworks, develop infrastructure and sustainable 803 mechanisms for their implementation at national and subnational levels, and ensure that 804 implemented strategies and interventions are based on the best available scientific evidence and 805 best practices of their implementation accumulated in different cultural, economic and social 806 contexts. Implementation of alcohol policy measures at the country level according to national 807 contexts, needs and priorities may require strong technical assistance, particularly in less-808 resourced countries and in technical areas such as taxation, legislation, regulations for digital 809 marketing and their enforcement, or consideration of health protection from alcohol-related harm 810 in trade negotiations.

811 Global targets for Action area 4

812 **Global target 4.1:** 50% ²⁴ of countries have strengthened capacity and infrastructure for 813 implementation of strategies and interventions to reduce the harmful use of alcohol at national 814 level.

815 **Global target 4.2:** 50%²⁵ of countries have strengthened capacity to provide prevention and 816 treatment interventions for health conditions due to alcohol use in line with the principles of 817 universal health coverage.

818 **Proposed actions for Member States**

819 820 821 822 823 824 825 825 826	Action 1. Action 2.	Developing national institutional capacities for applying population-wide initiatives tackling the determinants driving the acceptability, availability and affordability of hazardous and harmful drinking patterns, including provision of country-tailored technical assistance, strengthening governance mechanisms towards accountability, transparency and participation of stakeholders. Develop or strengthen technical capacity and infrastructure, including involvement of public health oriented civil society organizations, including youth organizations, for implementation of high-impact strategies and interventions to reduce the harmful use of alcohol and, when appropriate, collaborate with the WHO Secretariat on testing, dissemination, implementation and evaluation of WHO technical
827 828 829 830	Action 3.	tools, recommendations and training materials. Document and share with WHO good practices and examples of policy responses and implemented measures to reduce the harmful use of alcohol in different socioeconomic and cultural contexts, according to the 10 recommended target areas for policy options and interventions included in the
831 832 833	Action 4.	Global strategy. Develop or strengthen the capacity of health professionals in health and social care systems, including health providers working in the areas of mental health and substance use, to prevent, identify and
834 835 836	Asting 5	manage hazardous drinking ²⁶ and disorders due to alcohol use, and develop the capacity of health and social care systems to ensure universal health coverage for people with AUD and comorbid health conditions.
837 838 839 840	Action 5.	Support capacity-building of health professionals, including health providers working in the areas of mental health and substance use, as well as public health experts and representatives of civil society organizations, including mutual help groups and associations of affected individuals and their family members, to advocate for, implement, enforce and sustain implementation of effective measures to
841 842 843	Action 6.	reduce the harmful use of alcohol, including screening and brief interventions for hazardous and harmful drinking, as well as support of the relevant education and training programmes. Promote policies for healthy settings (e.g., educational campus, sport sites, workplace); analyse, assess
844 845 846 847		and develop guidance on population-based interventions related to risk exposure; support local and bottom-up initiatives aimed at protecting from harmful alcohol consumption (e.g., integrated actions across sectors such as education, social, healthcare and public health sectors); and support community actions advocating for alcohol policy changes in various settings and for populations, including high-
847 848 849 850	Action 7.	risk groups (e.g., indigenous populations, young people, women). Develop health promotion services based on learning loops and behavioural change ensuring links to promoting health interventions in primary health care.

²⁴ This figure is indicative and subject to adjustment after ongoing reanalysis of data from the relevant WHO surveys. The baseline for this indicator is the year of endorsement of the action plan.

²⁵ This figure is indicative and subject to adjustment after reanalysis of data from the relevant WHO surveys. The baseline for this indicator is the year of endorsement of the action plan.

²⁶ In the *International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems* – 11th revision (ICD-11), "hazardous alcohol use" is defined as a "pattern of alcohol use that appreciably increases the risk of harmful physical or mental health consequences to the user or to others to an extent that warrants attention and advice from health professionals" (WHO, 2019).

851 **Proposed actions for the WHO Secretariat**

852	Action 1.	Collect, compile and disseminate through WHO information channels at global and regional levels
853		good practices and examples of policy responses and implemented measures to reduce the harmful
854		use of alcohol in Member States from around the world according to the 10 recommended target areas
855		for policy options and interventions, including legislative provisions, and develop and maintain global
856		and regional repositories of good practice and examples, including those for workplaces and
857		educational institutions.
858	Action 2.	Foster and strengthen global and regional networks of national technical counterparts by developing
859		capacity-building platforms in partnership with academia and civil society organizations with a focus
860		on particularly challenging areas such as: 1) digital marketing and social media advertising; 2)
861		protecting alcohol control within the context of supranational regulatory and legislative frameworks;
862		3) strengthening health service and social care responses; and 4) building up national monitoring
863		systems on alcohol and health or integrating these focus areas into existing national monitoring
864		systems.
865	Action 3.	
	ACTION 3.	Develop, test and disseminate global evidence-based and ethical recommendations, standards,
866		guidelines and technical tools, including a protocol for comprehensive assessment of alcohol policies;
867		propose, as deemed necessary and according to WHO procedures, other normative or technical
868		instruments to provide normative and technical guidance on effective and cost-effective prevention
869		and treatment interventions in different settings; and provide support to Member States in
870		implementing the Global strategy according to the 10 recommended target areas for policy options
871		and interventions.
872	Action 4.	Increase capacity of the Secretariat to provide technical assistance and support to countries in
873		addressing unrecorded alcohol ²⁷ consumption and related harm, as well as cross-border alcohol
874		marketing, advertising and promotional activities.
875	Action 5.	Develop the global country support network of experts and strengthen global coordination of relevant
876		activities of WHO collaborating centres in order to increase the Secretariat's capacity to respond to
877		Member States' requests for support of their efforts to develop, implement and evaluate strategies
878		and programmes to reduce the harmful use of alcohol.
879	Action 6.	Develop, test and disseminate technical guidance and supporting technical tools for assessment,
880		prevention and reduction of alcohol-related harm in humanitarian settings.
881	Action 7.	Support the development and implementation of sustainable programmes on the identification and
882		management of hazardous and harmful drinking in primary health care and other nonspecialized and
883		specialized health care programmes, such as programmes for noncommunicable or infectious
884		diseases, and promote screening and brief interventions as well as other interventions with proven
885		effectiveness.
886	Action 8.	Develop a global programme of training and capacity strengthening activities on priority areas for
887	Action 0.	global action and target areas for action at national level, and implement this programme by organizing
888		and supporting global, regional and intercountry workshops, seminars (including web-based
889		seminars), online consultations and other capacity-building activities covering multi-sectoral
890		
890 891	A attices O	responses and measures beyond the health sector.
	Action 9.	Support and conduct capacity-building projects and activities on planning and implementing research
892		and dissemination of research findings with a particular focus on alcohol policy research in low- and
893		middle-income countries, and data generation to produce reliable estimates of alcohol consumption,
894		alcohol-related harm and treatment coverage for AUD.
895	Action 10.	Reconvene, as needed, the WHO Expert Committee on Problems Related to Alcohol Consumption for
896		a comprehensive review of the accumulated evidence on feasible and effective measures to address
897		the harmful use of alcohol, monitoring progress made and providing recommendations on the way
898		forward.
899	Proposed act	ions for international partners, civil society organizations and academia
900	Action 1.	Major partners within the United Nations system and intergovernmental organizations are invited to
901		prioritize technical assistance and capacity-building activities for accelerating implementation of the
902		Global strategy in their developmental assistance and country support activities and plans.

²⁷ Unrecorded alcohol refers to alcohol that is not accounted for in official statistics on alcohol taxation or sales in the country where it is consumed because it is usually produced, distributed and sold outside the formal channels under government control.

- 903Action 2.Civil society organizations, professional associations and research institutions are invited to develop904capacity-building activities at national and, if appropriate, international levels within their roles and905mandates. They are invited to contribute to capacity-building and provide technical assistance906activities undertaken by Member States, WHO or other international organizations in line with the907objectives and principles of the Global strategy.
- 908Action 3.International partners, civil society organizations and academia are encouraged to monitor and report909activities which undermine effective public health measures, and are encouraged to refrain from co-910funding initiatives with economic operators in alcohol production and trade.

911 Proposed measures for economic operators in alcohol production and trade

912Economic operators in alcohol production and trade are invited to implement capacity-building913activities aimed at reducing the harmful use of alcohol within their core roles and sectors of alcohol914production, distribution and sales, and refrain from engagement in capacity-building activities outside915their core roles that may undermine or compete with the activities of the public health community.

916 Action area 5: Knowledge production and information systems

917 52. Production and dissemination of knowledge that facilitates advocacy, policy prioritization and 918 evaluation, and supports overall global actions to reduce the harmful use of alcohol. International 919 collaborative research and knowledge production should focus on the generation of data that are 920 highly relevant to understanding the epidemiology of health risks associated with alcohol 921 consumption and the development and implementation of alcohol policies. Effective monitoring 922 of levels and patterns of alcohol consumption in populations and of alcohol-related harm, 923 including alcohol-attributable disease burden, is of utmost importance for monitoring progress of 924 implementation of the Global strategy at national, regional and global levels, and should be 925 conducted in conjunction with monitoring implementation of alcohol policy measures. Effective 926 monitoring of alcohol consumption, alcohol-related harm and policy responses requires 927 streamlined data generation, collection, validation and reporting procedures that will allow 928 regular updates of country-level data at 1–2 year intervals with minimized time lags between data 929 collection and reporting. Effective monitoring of treatment coverage for AUD requires not only 930 these actions but also better methods of monitoring treatment coverage, all within the framework 931 of universal health coverage.

932 53 Significantly more resources are required for investment in international research on alcohol 933 policy development and implementation in low- and middle-income countries, based on evidence 934 of uneven implementation of alcohol policy measures in different jurisdictions, with quantitative 935 and qualitative analyses of barriers, enabling factors and the impact of different policy options, as 936 well as in different population groups. Research, including international research projects, is 937 needed on the role of alcohol consumption in the transmission, progression and treatment 938 outcomes of some infectious diseases, on harm to others from drinking, on the impact of the 939 harmful use of alcohol on child development and maternal health, as well as on the consumption 940 of informally and illegally produced alcohol and its health consequences. International studies are 941 needed on effective ways to increase the health literacy of people who consume alcohol. Studies 942 on the costs and benefits of alcohol control measures and development of investment cases can 943 help to overcome resistance to effective alcohol control measures in view of financial and other 944 revenues associated with alcohol production and trade.

945 Global targets for Action area 5

946 **Global target 5.1:** By 2030, 75% of countries have national data generated and regularly reported 947 on alcohol consumption, alcohol-related harm and implementation of alcohol control measures.

Global target 5.2: By 2030, 50% of countries have national data generated and reported for
monitoring progress on attainment of universal health coverage for AUD and major health
conditions due to alcohol use.

951 **Proposed actions for Member States**

952	Action 1.	Support the generation, compilation and dissemination of knowledge at the national level on the
953		magnitude and nature of public health problems caused by the harmful use of alcohol and
954		effectiveness of different policy options, and undertake activities for informing the general public
955		about health risks associated with alcohol consumption and alcohol-related health conditions in
956		different populations.

- 957Action 2.In coordination with relevant stakeholders, develop or strengthen national and subnational958monitoring systems and national health system indicators and targets for monitoring alcohol959consumption and its socio-economic and behavioural modifiers, including exposure to digital960marketing, as well as health and social consequences of alcohol consumption, and respective policy961and programme responses, including treatment coverage for AUD, in line with the SDGs and WHO962indicators and their definitions.
- 963Action 3.Establish national monitoring centres or other appropriate institutional entities with responsibility for964collecting and compiling national data on alcohol consumption, alcohol-related harm and policy965responses, as well as monitoring trends, and reporting regularly to national authorities as well as to966the WHO's regional and global information systems on alcohol and health.
- Action 4. Include alcohol modules with recommended questions on alcohol consumption and related harm in data collection tools used in population-based surveillance activities at national and subnational levels to facilitate international comparisons.
- Action 5. Collaborate with the WHO Secretariat on global surveys on alcohol and health by collecting, collating
 and reporting the required information, as well as by validating country estimates and profiles received
 from WHO Secretariat for inclusion in the global and regional monitoring frameworks and databases.
- Action 6. Document, collate and disseminate practical experiences with the implementation of alcohol policy
 measures and interventions, and support and promote evaluation of their effectiveness, cost effectiveness and impact on alcohol-attributable harm in order to document feasibility, effectiveness
 and cost-effectiveness of policy measures in different contexts.

977 **Proposed actions for the WHO Secretariat**

1001

1002

1003

- 978Action 1.Maintain and further develop the WHO Global Information System on Alcohol and Health (GISAH) and979regional information systems by developing and integrating indicators for monitoring implementation980of the Global strategy and the action plan 2022-2030, further operationalization and standardization981of GISAH indicators, coordination of data collection activities at all levels, and bringing together982information on the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of policy measures and interventions to983reduce the harmful use of alcohol and public health problems attributable to alcohol.
- 984Action 2.Support capacity-building for research, monitoring and surveillance on alcohol and health by
establishing and supporting global and regional research networks, training and supporting data
collection, analysis and dissemination.
- 987Action 3.Prepare and implement during the period 2022–2030 at least three waves of data collection on alcohol988consumption, alcohol-related harm and alcohol policies from Member States through the WHO Global989Survey on Alcohol and Health (tentatively in 2022, 2025 and 2028) and from other relevant information990sources. Also, use computerized data collection tools and web-based data collection platforms, and991disseminate information through GISAH, regional information systems and global and regional status992reports on alcohol and health. Whenever necessary, organize data consensus workshops for improving993the quality of data.
- Action 4. Continually review, analyse and disseminate emerging scientific evidence on the magnitude and nature of public health problems attributable to alcohol consumption, on the determinants of availability and affordability of alcohol beverages, with proper attention given to attitudes, risk awareness and inequities related to alcohol consumption, as well as on the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of policy measures and interventions. This includes meetings of related technical advisory groups, including the WHO Technical Advisory Group on Alcohol and Drug Epidemiology.
 Action 5. Continue to generate comparable data on alcohol consumption, its determinants, alcohol-related
 - Action 5. Continue to generate comparable data on alcohol consumption, its determinants, alcohol-related mortality and morbidity, and estimates of alcohol-attributable burden with disaggregation, whenever possible, by gender, age and socioeconomic status, within the comparative risk assessment and global burden of disease estimates.
- 1004Action 6.Continue and further develop collaboration with international and United Nations agencies on data1005collection and analysis to harmonize data collection tools and activities and facilitate international1006comparisons, as well as to continue dialogue and information exchange with alcohol producers and1007industry-supported research groups and organizations to improve the coverage and quality of data on1008alcohol production, distribution and consumption of alcoholic beverages at global, regional and1009national levels.

- 1010 Action 7. Promote and support priority-setting for international research on alcohol and health as well as 1011 specific international research projects in low- and middle- income countries with engagement of WHO 1012 collaborating centres. This should include a particular focus on the epidemiology of alcohol 1013 consumption and alcohol-related harm, evaluation of policy measures and interventions in health 1014 services, comparative effectiveness research, and the relationship between harmful use of alcohol and 1015 social and health inequities. Initiate and implement in selected low- and middle-income countries 1016 international research projects on the determinants of alcohol consumption and alcohol-related harm, 1017 including research on FASD.
- 1018Action 8.Develop methodology, core indicators and computerized data collection tools and support generation1019of comparable data on the implementation of effective policy measures at national level using the1020system of indices and scores, and support information- and experience-sharing among countries,1021particularly with similar socioeconomic and cultural contexts.

1022 Proposed actions for international partners, civil society organizations and academia

- 1023Action 1.Major partners within the United Nations system and intergovernmental organizations are invited to
support knowledge generation and monitoring activities on alcohol and health at all levels, including
alcohol policy research, to work with WHO on harmonization of indicators and data collection tools,
and to support national monitoring capacities in line with reporting commitments for the major
international monitoring frameworks.
- 1028Action 2.Civil society organizations, professional associations and research institutions are invited to support1029WHO efforts on data collection and analysis to improve the coverage and quality of data on alcohol1030consumption, alcohol-related harm, policy responses and treatment coverage for AUD at global,1031regional and national levels, and to support countries in their efforts to build and strengthen research1032and monitoring capacities in this area.

1033 Proposed measures for economic operators in alcohol production and trade

1034	Economic operators in alcohol production and trade are called upon to disclose, with due regard of
1035	limitations associated with confidentiality of commercial information, data of public health relevance
1036	with a description of methodology used to generate this data, that can contribute to improvement of
1037	WHO estimates of alcohol consumption in populations. This includes data on the production and sales
1038	of alcoholic beverages, as well as data on consumer knowledge, attitudes and preferences regarding
1039	alcoholic beverages.

1040 Action area 6: Resource mobilization

1041 54. Lack of the required financial and human resources presents a primary barrier to introducing 1042 or accelerating global and national actions to reduce the harmful use of alcohol, and reducing 1043 inequities related to alcohol consumption and its consequences between and within different 1044 jurisdictions. Adequate resources need to be mobilized at all levels for implementation of the 1045 Global strategy, namely for: 1) development, implementation and monitoring of alcohol policies 1046 in low- and middle-income countries; 2) international collaboration and research in this area, also 1047 on social and commercial determinants of alcohol control; and 3) civil society engagement at the 1048 international level to reduce the harmful use of alcohol. Such resources are not limited to funding, 1049 although this is a priority, but also include human resources and workforce capacity, appropriate 1050 infrastructures, international cooperation and partnerships.

1051 55. The lack or insufficiency of available resources to finance alcohol control measures, as well as 1052 programmes and interventions for prevention and treatment of substance use disorders, requires, 1053 as appropriate within the national contexts, innovative funding mechanisms if the related targets 1054 of the SDGs are to be met. Several innovative approaches have been reported across countries 1055 and at the international level, and several are being discussed, such as establishing funds for 1056 treatment, care and support of those affected by the harmful use of alcohol. There are existing 1057 examples of revenues from taxes on alcoholic beverages being used to fund health promotion 1058 initiatives, health coverage of vulnerable populations, prevention and treatment of alcohol and 1059 substance use disorders and, in some cases, support to international work in these areas. In some 1060 jurisdictions, earmarked funding for the prevention and treatment of AUD and related conditions is provided with funds generated from state-owned retail monopolies, a levy on profits across the
 value chains for alcoholic beverages, taxation on alcohol advertising, or fines for noncompliance
 with alcohol regulations. Consideration should be given to an intergovernmental commitment for
 a voluntary levy on alcohol to support this effort, with the use of the money raised to be governed
 internationally.

1066 Global targets for Action area 6

Global target 6.1: At least 50%²⁸ of countries with sustainable dedicated resources for reducing the
 harmful use of alcohol by implementing alcohol policies and by increasing coverage and quality of
 prevention and treatment interventions for disorders due to alcohol use and associated health
 conditions, including, when appropriate, funding from alcohol tax revenues or other revenues
 linked to alcohol production and trade.

1072 **Proposed actions for Member States**

1073	Action 1.	Increase allocation of resources, including international and domestic financial resources generated
1074		by new or innovative ways and means to secure essential funding, for reducing the harmful use of
1075		alcohol and increasing the coverage and quality of prevention and treatment interventions according
1076		to the scope and nature of public health problems caused by harmful use of alcohol.
1077	Action 2.	Consider, when appropriate within the national contexts, the development and implementation of
1078		earmarked funding or contributions from alcohol tax revenues or other revenues linked to alcohol
1079		beverage production and trade, or establishing a dedicated fund for reducing the harmful use of
1080		alcohol and increasing the coverage and quality of prevention and treatment interventions for
1081		disorders due to alcohol use and associated health conditions.
1082	Action 3.	Ensure availability and allocation of necessary resources by developing resource allocation plans and
1083		accountability frameworks for the implementation of community action and support of community-
1084		based programmes, coalitions and interventions to reduce the harmful use of alcohol and associated
1085		inequalities, including programmes for indigenous populations and subpopulations at particular risk
1086		such as young people, unemployed persons and family members of people with AUD.
1087	Action 4.	Increase the resources available for implementation of the Global strategy and action plan by
1088		mainstreaming alcohol policy options and interventions in public health and developmental activities
1089		in other areas such as maternal and child health, violence prevention, road safety and infectious
1090		diseases.
1091	Action 5.	Participate in and support international collaboration to increase resources available for accelerating
1092		implementation of the Global strategy and action plan to reduce the harmful use of alcohol and
1093		support provided to low- and middle-income countries in developing and implementing high-impact
1094		strategies and interventions.
1095	Action 6.	Promote and support resource mobilization for implementation of the Global strategy and action plan
1096		to reduce the harmful use of alcohol in the framework of broad developmental agendas such as the
1097		2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development and responses to health emergencies such as the COVID-
1098		19 pandemic.
1099	Action 7.	Share experiences at the international level, including with the WHO Secretariat and other
1100		international organizations, of good practice in financing policies and interventions to reduce the
1101		harmful use of alcohol.
1102	Proposed act	ions for the WHO Secretariat
1103	Action 1.	Collect, analyse and disseminate experiences and good practices in financing policies and interventions
1104		to reduce the harmful use of alcohol, especially in low- and middle-income countries, and promote the
1105		implementation of new or innovative ways and means to secure adequate funding for implementation
1106		of the Global strategy at all levels.
1107	Action 2.	Develop and disseminate, in collaboration with international finance institutions, technical tools and
1108		information products in support of efforts to increase the resources available for reducing the harmful

²⁸ This figure is indicative and subject to adjustment after reanalysis of data from the relevant WHO surveys. The baseline for this indicator is the year of endorsement of the action plan.

1109 1110		use of alcohol, health promotion and increasing the coverage and quality of prevention and treatment interventions for disorders due to alcohol use and associated health conditions.
1111 1112	Action 3.	At global and regional levels, monitor the allocation of resources for the implementation of the Global strategy and action plan.
1113	Action 4.	Promote and support pooling of resources and their effective use by better coordination and
1114		intensified collaboration between different programme areas within WHO, United Nations agencies
1115		and other international partners.
1116	Action 5.	Promote the allocation of resources for alcohol policy development and implementation of the Global
1117		strategy and action plan in bilateral and other cooperation agreements with donor countries and
1118		agencies.
1119	Action 6.	Intensify fundraising and resource mobilization efforts to support implementation of the Global
1120		strategy in low- and middle-income countries by organizing donor conferences and meetings of
1121		interested parties.
1122	Proposed act	ions for international partners, civil society organizations and academia
	•	
1123	Action 1.	Major partners within the United Nations system and intergovernmental organizations are invited to
1124		mainstream their efforts to reduce the harmful use of alcohol in their developmental and public health
1125		strategies and action plans, and to promote and support financing policies and interventions to ensure
1126		the availability of adequate resources for accelerated implementation of the Global strategy while
1127		maintaining independence from funding from alcohol producers and distributors.
1128	Action 2.	Civil society organizations, professional associations and research institutions are invited to promote
1120		and some set when the south a construction and some set as a source of the distribution and the fractional set

1128Action 2.Civil society organizations, professional associations and research institutions are invited to promote1129and support new or innovative ways and means to secure required funding and to facilitate1130collaboration of the finance and health sectors to ensure mobilization, allocation and accountability of1131the resources necessary to reduce the harmful use of alcohol and accelerate implementation of the1132Global strategy at all levels.

1133 Proposed measures for economic operators in alcohol production and trade

1134Economic operators in alcohol production and trade are invited to allocate resources for1135implementation of measures that can contribute to reducing the harmful use of alcohol within their1136core roles, and to refrain from funding public health and policy-related activities and research to1137prevent any potential bias in agenda-setting emerging from the conflict of interest, and to cease1138sponsorship of scientific research on public health dimensions of alcohol consumption and alcohol1139policies, and its use for marketing or lobbying purposes.

ANNEX 1: INDICATORS AND MILESTONES FOR ACHIEVING GLOBAL TARGETS

Global targets	Indicators	Milestones	Comments
1.1. By 2030, 75% of	1.1.1 Number of	2019	Data on indicator 1.1.1 have
1.1. By 2030, 75% of countries have developed and enacted national alcohol policies that are based on the best available evidence and supported by legislative measures for effective implementation of high- impact strategies and interventions.	countries (as a percentage of all WHO Member States) with a written and enacted national alcohol policy. 1.1.2 The size of the world's population (as a percentage of the world's population) living in countries that have developed and enacted national alcohol policies. 1.1.3 Composite indicator for monitoring the implementation of high-impact policy options and interventions (in the process of development) ²⁹ .	2019 2022 2025 2028/29	beat of indicator 1.1.1 have been collected through WHO global surveys on alcohol and health; indicator 1.1.2 is a derivative indicator from 1.1.1 and does not require additional data collection efforts; indicator 1.1.3 is based on several indicators that are included in the WHO Global Information System on Alcohol and Health (GISAH), and requires only adjustment of the questions in the current GISAH data collection tool. SAFER monitoring and other relevant activities undertaken at the global and regional levels will provide additional information to improve validity and reliability of data for this indicator.
1.2. At least 20% relative reduction (in comparison with 2010) in the harmful use of alcohol to be achieved by 2030. ³⁰	 1.2.1 Total alcohol per capita consumption defined as the estimated total (recorded plus unrecorded) alcohol per capita, (aged 15 years and older) consumption within a calendar year in litres of pure alcohol, adjusted for tourist consumption. 1.2.2. Age-standardized prevalence of heavy episodic drinking. 	Annual WHO estimates for alcohol consumpti on and periodic data collection (2019, 2022, 2025 and 2028/29) for other indicators under this target.	This target and indicators are consistent with SDG 2030 and NCD global monitoring frameworks, and data have been collected and previously reported by WHO on these indicators.

 ²⁹ Strategies and interventions in the following areas: (a) pricing policies; (b) availability; (c) marketing of alcoholic beverages; (d) drink-driving policies and countermeasures; (e) health services' response.
 ³⁰ 20% target is based on the latest available WHO data, but can be adjusted further taking into consideration the relevant impact of COVID-19.

	1.2.3. Age-standardized alcohol-attributable deaths and disability- adjusted life years (DALYs).		
2.1. By 2030, 50% of countries produce periodic national reports on alcohol consumption, alcohol-related harm and effective policy responses targeting decision-makers and the general public.	2.1.1. Number of countries (as a percentage of all WHO Member States) producing at least two national reports within the last 8-year period on alcohol consumption, alcohol- related harm and national alcohol policy responses.	2022 2025 2028/29	Data collected through existing WHO global surveys on alcohol and health and on progress with attainment of SDG health target 3.5, as well as other relevant monitoring activities at the global and regional levels. The current data collection tools require tools require minor adjustments for reporting on this indicator.
3.1. x% ³¹ of countries have established a functioning national multisectoral coordination mechanism for the implementation of national multisectoral alcohol policy responses.	3.1.1. Number of countries (as a proportion of all WHO Member States) with an established and multisectoral coordination mechanism for the implementation of national multisectoral alcohol policy responses. Full operationalization of the indicator is work in progress.	2022 2025 2028/29	Data collected through existing WHO global surveys on alcohol and health and on progress with attainment of SDG health target 3.5, as well as other relevant monitoring activities at the global and regional levels. The current data collection tools requires minor adjustments for reporting on this indicator.
3.2. 75% of countries are engaged in the work of the global and regional networks of WHO national counterparts for international dialogue and coordination on reducing the harmful use of alcohol.	3.2.1. Number of countries (as a proportion of all WHO Member States) actively represented in the global and regional networks of WHO national counterparts.	2022 2024 2025 2027 2028/29	Information from WHO regional offices and headquarters collated on a regular basis.

 $^{^{\}rm 31}$ The figure is to be defined on the basis of reanalysis of data from the relevant WHO surveys.

4.1. 50% ³² of countries have strengthened capacity and infrastructure for the implementation of strategies and	4.1.1. Number of countries (as a proportion of all WHO Member States) that have increased governmental resources	2022 2025 2028/29	Data collected through existing WHO global surveys on alcohol and health and on progress with attainment of SDG health target 3.5, as well as other relevant monitoring activities at the global
interventions to reduce the harmful use of alcohol at national level.	for implementation of alcohol policies at the national level.		and regional levels. The current data collection tools require minor adjustments for reporting on this indicator.
4.2. 50% ³³ of countries have strengthened capacity to provide prevention and treatment interventions for health conditions due to alcohol use in line with the principles of universal health coverage.	4.2.1. Number of countries (as a proportion of all WHO Member States) that have increased service capacity to provide prevention and treatment interventions for health conditions due to alcohol use within health systems in line with the principles of universal health coverage.	2022 2025 2028/29	Data collected through WHO global survey on progress towards attainment of SDG health target 3.5.The work on this indicator as a proxy measure for treatment coverage for alcohol use disorders and related health conditions is currently in progress.
5.1. By 2030, 75% of countries have national data generated and regularly reported on levels and patterns of alcohol consumption, alcohol-related harm and implementation of alcohol control measures.	5.1.1. Number of countries (as a proportion of all WHO Member States) that generate and report national data on per capita alcohol consumption, alcohol- related harm and policy responses.	2019 2022 2025 2028/29	Passive literature surveillance and data collected through WHO global surveys on alcohol and health and progress with attainment of SDG health target 3.5 as well as other relevant monitoring activities at the global and regional levels.

³² This figure is indicative and subject to adjustment after reanalysis of data from the relevant WHO surveys.

³³ This figure is indicative and subject to adjustment after reanalysis of data from the relevant WHO surveys.

5.2. By 2030, 50% of countries have national data generated and reported for monitoring progress with attainment of universal health coverage for alcohol use disorders and major health conditions due to alcohol use.	5.2.1. Number of countries (as a proportion of all WHO Member States) that have a core set of agreed indicators and generate and report national data on treatment coverage and treatment capacity for alcohol use disorders and related health conditions due to alcohol use.	2019 2022 2025 2028/29	Passive literature surveillance and data collected through WHO global survey on progress towards attainment of SDG health target 3.5 and other relevant monitoring activities at global and regional levels; data collected through activities undertaken for SDG 3.5.1 monitoring.
6.1. At least 50% of countries with sustainable dedicated resources for reducing the harmful use of alcohol by implementing alcohol policies and by increasing coverage and quality of prevention and treatment interventions for disorders due to substance use.	 6.1.1 Number (absolute) of countries that have secured sustainable dedicated resources for the implementation of alcohol policies at the national level. 6.1.2. Number (absolute) of countries that have secured sustainable dedicated resources for increasing coverage and quality of prevention and treatment interventions within health systems for disorders due to substance use. 6.1.3. Number (absolute) of countries that introduced dedicated funding for reducing the harmful use of alcohol from alcohol tax revenues or other revenues linked to alcohol production and trade. 	2022 2025 2028/29	Data collected through existing WHO global surveys on alcohol and health and on progress with attainment of SDG health target 3.5, as well as other relevant monitoring activities undertaken at the global and regional levels. The current data collection tools require adjustments for reporting on these indicators.

1143 ANNEX 2: WHO EXECUTIVE BOARD DECISION EB146(14)

EXECUTIVE BOARD 146th session

EB146(14) 7 February 2020

Agenda item 7.2

Accelerating action to reduce the harmful use of alcohol

The Executive Board, having considered the report on the political declaration of the third high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of non-communicable diseases,¹ particularly Annex 3, entitled "Implementation of the global strategy to reduce the harmful use of alcohol," and the report on the findings of the consultative process on implementation of the global strategy to reduce the harmful use of alcohol and the way forward;²

Noting with grave concern that, globally, the harmful use of alcohol causes approximately 3 million deaths every year; and that, despite the reduction of age-standardized alcohol-attributable deaths and disability-adjusted life years and of heavy episodic drinking, the overall burden of disease and injuries attributable to alcohol consumption remains unacceptably high; and emphasizing that there is sufficient evidence for the carcinogenicity of alcohol and a causal contribution of the use of alcohol to the development of several types of cancers in humans;³

Recognizing the continued relevance of the global strategy to reduce the harmful use of alcohol and further recognizing that resources and capacities for its implementation in WHO and some Member States do not correspond to the magnitude of the problems;

Expressing deep concern that alcohol marketing, advertising and promotional activity, including through cross-border marketing, targeting youth and adolescents, influences their drinking initiation and intensity of drinking,³

Noting that some WHO offices do not offer alcohol as a practice to accelerate action to reduce the harmful use of alcohol,

Decided to request the Director-General:

(1) to develop an action plan (2022–2030) to effectively implement the global strategy to reduce the harmful use of alcohol as a public health priority, in consultation with Member States and relevant stakeholders, for consideration by the Seventy-fifth World Health Assembly, through the Executive Board at its 150th session in 2022;

³ Global status report on alcohol and health 2018. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/274603/9789241565639-eng.pdf?ua=1, accessed 7 February 2020).

¹ Document EB146/7.

² Document EB146/7 Add.1.

(2) to develop a technical report on the harmful use of alcohol related to cross-border alcohol marketing, advertising and promotional activities, including those targeting youth and adolescents, before the 150th session of the Executive Board, which could contribute to the development of the action plan;

(3) to adequately resource the work on the harmful use of alcohol;

(4) to review the global strategy to reduce the harmful use of alcohol and report to the Executive Board at its 166th session in 2030 for further action.

= =

Twelfth meeting, 7 February 2020 EB146/SR/12

1146